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Case Summary

3:18-mj-03002 All Defendants USA v. Moreland
Date filed: 02/28/2018
Date of last filing: 03/14/2018

Cason Moreland (1)
Office: Nashville Filed: 02/28/2018
County: Davidson Terminated: Reopened:

Other Court Case: None

Complaint Citation: Offense Level: 4

18:1512 Tamper with a witness, victim or informant, 18:1519 Destruction, alteration, or falsification of
records in a federal investigation
Defendant Custody Status: Custody This Court

Defendant: Cason represented Peter J. Strianse(Designation Retained) Phone:(615) 244-2770
Moreland by Fax: (615)244-2778
Email: pstrianse@tewlawfirm.com
Plaintiff: USA  represented Cecil W. VanDevender(Designation Phone:(615) 401-6595
by Assistant US Attorney) Fax: (615)401-6626
Email: cecil.vandevender@usdoj.gov
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AO 91 (Rev. 11/11) Criminal Complamt

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COU'RT
for the

Middle District of Tennessee

United States of America ) 3
V. ) .
) Case No. 3(6“4(300&
)
)
Cason Moreland ;
Defendant(s)
CRIMINAL COMPLAINT
I, the complainant in this case, state that the following is true to the best of my knowledge and belief.
On or about the date(s) of __ Feb. 1, 2017 to Feb. 14, 2018 in the county of Davidson in the
Middle District of Tennessee , the defendant(s) violated:
Code Section Offense Description
18 U.S.C. 1512 Tampering with a witness, victim, or an informant

18 U.S.C. 1519 Destruction, alteration, or falsification of records in Federal investigations

This criminal complaint is based on these facts:

See the attached Afidavit of FBI Special Agent Mark Shafer.

i@ Continued on the attached sheet.

S

\ Complaina ssxgnature

FBI Special Agent Mark Shafer
Printed name and title

Sworn to before me and signed in my presence.

Date: 02/28/2018 hﬁ»//%%ow/\

Judge 's signature
City and state: Nashville, TN Magistrate Judge Joe B. Brown
Printed name and title
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to whom I or others have spoken or whose reports I have read and reviewed. Such statements are
among many statements made by others and are stated in substance and in part unless otherwise
indicated. Where statements from recorded calls or meetings are set forth in quotation marks, these
quotes represent an attempt at rough transcription based on the recordings, which have not been
officially transcribed. This affidavit does not contain all the information known to me regarding
this investigation but only what I believe to be sufficient facts for the sole purpose of establishing
probable cause for the arrest of Cason (“Casey’”) MORELAND. Therefore, I have not set forth
each and every fact that I have learned during the course of this investigation. Facts not set forth
herein are not being relied upon in reaching my conclusion that an arrest warrant should be issued.
Nor do I request that the Court rely on any facts not set forth herein.

3. This affidavit is presented in support of an arrest warrant for Cason (“Casey’)
MORELAND, and a complaint charging that, beginning in or about February 2017 and continuing
on through at least February 13, 2018, in the Middle District of Tennessee and elsewhere,
MORELAND did knowingly obstruct justice through destruction of records, in violation of Title
18, United States Code, Sections 1519 and 2, and attempt to obstruct justice through witness
tampering, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1512(b)(1).

THE FEDERAL CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION INTO MORELAND
Background of the Investigation & Indictment

4. Until on or about April 4, 2017, MORELAND was a Judge on the General Sessions
Court of Metropolitan Nashville & Davidson County, Tennessee. MORELAND presided over
Division X of the General Sessions Court and heard civil, criminal, and traffic cases.
MORELAND had previously served as Presiding Judge of the General Sessions Court and directed

the administration of two specialized court programs—the General Sessions Drug Treatment Court
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STATEMENT IN SUPPORT OF COMPLAINT

I, Mark Shafer, being duly sworn, deposes and states as follows: |

1. I am a Special Agent with the Federal Bureau of Investigation (“FB.I”) and héve
been so employed for twenty years. As a Special Agent, I am charged with the responsibility of
investigating violations of the laws of the United States Code, including, but not limited to,
violations of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 666 (federal programs theft/bribery), 1341,
1343, and 1346 (honest services fraud), 1951 (Hobbs Act extortion under color of official right),
as well as Sections 1503, 1510, 1512, 1513, and 1519 (obstruction of justice), and collecting
evidence in matters in which the United States is or may be a party of interest. I have received
specialized training to perform those official duties and responsibilities. I have been exposed to a
variety of investigative techniques and resources, which include, but are not limited to, physical
surveillance, electronic surveillance, monitoring court-authorized wiretaps, managing the use of
confidential sources (“CS”), consensual monitoring of conversations, the use of vehicle tracking
devices, conducting searches of physical locations, and conducting searches of electronic storage
media, e.g., computers, cell phones, and other digital storage devices, all of which may be utilized
to retain information such as, among other things, documents, e-mails, text messages, pictures,
voice notes, contact lists and call logs.

2. I have personally participated in the investigation set forth below. I am familiar
with the facts and circumstances of the investigation from discussions with Special Agents and
Analysts with the FBI; from my discussions with witnesses involved in the investigation; from
my review of recordings made during the course of the investigation; and from my review of other
records and reports relating to the investigation. Unless otherwise noted, wherever in this affidavit
I assert that a statement was made, the information was provided by an FBI Special Agent or

Analyst, or a witness who may have had either direct or hearsay knowledge of that statement and
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(now known as the General Sessions Recovery Court), and the Cherished H.E.A.R.T.S. program—
until his resignation from those positions on or about February 3, 2017.

5. On or about January 25, 2017, the FBI opened a federal criminal investigation into-
whether MORELAND and others violated federal anti-corruption statutes, including 18 U.S.C.
Sections 1341, 1343, and 1346 (honest services fraud); and 18 U.S.C. Section 1951 (Hobbs Act
extortion under color of official right).

6. In or about February 2017, a federal grand jury in the Middle District of Tennessee
began to investigate whether MORELAND and others had violated federal anti-corruption laws.
The grand jury issued its first subpoena in furtherance of the investigation on or about February
15, 2017.

7. The federal criminal investigation initially centered on allegations that
MORELAND solicited, accepted, and extorted things of value—including sex.ual favors, travel,
and lodging—from persons with whom he had close personal relationships, in return for
performing official acts that benefitted these persons and their associates. As described in greater
detail below, the federal criminal investigation also encompasses allegations that MORELAND
participated in a scheme to steal, for his own personal use, funds belonging to the Davidson County
Drug Court Foundation (the “Drug Court Foundation”),! in violation of 18 U.S.C. Section 666.

8. On or about March 28, 2017, I submitted a criminal complaint in the Middle District
of Tennessee, stating that MORELAND had violated 18 U.S.C. Sections 1510, 1512, and 1513;
on or about April 26, 2017, a federal grand jury in the Middle District of Tennessee returned a
five-count indictment, alleging that MORELAND had violated 18 U.S.C. Sections 2, 1510(a),

1512(b)(3), 1512(c)(2), 1513(e), and 1519 by, among other things, attempting to persuade and

! The Drug Court Foundation is now known as the Tennessee Recovery Foundation.

3
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bribe a woman with whom he had had a sexual relationship to sign an affidavit containing false
statements, and scheming to plant drugs in that woman’s car to discredit her. Specifically with
respect to the bribe, the indictment alleges that omr or about March 11, 2017, MORELAND
provided $5,100 in cash to be used to persuade the woman to sign the affidavit, and that he
provided an additional $1,000 in cash later that same day. The indictment is pending in the Middle
District of Tennessee.

MORELAND’s Knowledge of the Investigation in February 2017

9. There is probable cause to believe that MORELAND was well aware of the federal
investigation in February 2017.

10.  On or about February 1, 2017, FBI agents, identifying themselves as such, made
contact with MORELAND and attempted to interview him. CS-1, discussed in more detail below,
was present and observed FBI agents contacting MORELAND. MORELAND advised the agents
to si)eak to his attorney. MORELAND’s attorney then contacted the U.S. Attorney’s Office.

11.  On or about February 23, 2017, MORELAND’s attorney met with the U.S.
Attorney’s Office to discuss the status of the criminal investigation.

12.  On or about February 7, 2017, the local media publicly reported the existence of
the federal criminal investigation into MORELAND’s conduct. See Stacey Barchenger, FBI Looks
Into Allegations Involving Nashville Judge Casey Moreland, THE TENNESSEAN, Feb. 7,2017; Ben
Hall & Phil Williams, FBI Investigates Nashville Judge’s Relationships, NEWSCHANNEL 5, Feb.

7, 2017.

4
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MORELAND’S RELATIONSHIPS WITH
THE DRUG COURT FOUNDATION AND CS-1

The Drug Treatment Court & the Drug Court Foundation

13—. The General Sessions Drug Treatment Court was a program designed to address
certain criminal defendants’ substance abuse issues by, among other things, referring them to, and
monitoring their participation in, outpatient drug treatment and counseling programs.
MORELAND oversaw the Drug Treatment Court before resigning from that position. Numerous
others assisted MORELAND as part of a “team” monitoring Drug Treatment Court participants’
progress, including representatives from the local Office of the District Attorney General, the
Public Defender’s Office, and treatment providers.

14.  The Drug Court Foundation was created in or about 2009 as an independent
nonprofit entity organized under 26 U.S.C. Section 501(c)(3). Although it was ostensibly managed
by a Board of Directors, of which MORELAND was not a member, MORELAND took an active
role in the Drug Court Foundation’s management. Additionally, MORELAND’s judicial assistant
(employed in that position by Metropolitan Government of Nashville and Davidson County) was
employed by the Drug Court Foundation as its bookkeeper. In that capacity, MORELAND’s
judicial assistant controlled the Drug Court Foundation’s checkbook and had authority to write
checks on its behalf.

15. In or about 2012, the Drug Court Foundation launched the Court Foundation
Center.2 The Court Foundation Center was an outpatient treatment facility designed to provide

substance abuse counseling services, in the form of group sessions held approximately three times

2 The Court Foundation Center is now known as the Tennessee Center for Change.
5
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each week. The day-to-day manager of the Court Foundation Center was CS-1, who conducted
various administrative and managerial tasks and personally ran some group counseling sessions.

16.  The vast majority of participants in the Court Foundation- Center’s treatment
services were referred there by the General Sessions Drug Treatment Court team, over which
MORELAND presided. Costs associated with these participants, including an hourly wage for
CS-1 (up to an agreed-upon cap based on the availability of funds), were reimbursed by the Drug
Court Foundation.? Invoices for the Court Foundation Center’s costs were routinely submitted to
MORELAND’s judicial assistant, who would routinely write checks from the Drug Court
Foundation in response.

17.  In addition to participants referred by the Drug Treatment Court team, the Court
Foundation Center treated people who were not before the Drug Treatment Court, such as certain
individuals charged with driving under the influence of alcohol who were eligible to participate in
an outpatient treatment program in exchange for a reduction in their prison sentences. These
individuals, known as “self-pay” clients, were required to pay for their treatment in cash or via
money order; self-pay clients were initially charged approximately $500 for a six-month course of
outpatient counseling sessions, although at some point that amount increased to approximately
$750. However, self-pay clients participated in the same group counseling sessions as participants
referred from Drug Treatment Court; thus, expenses associated with their treatment such as rent,

utilities, and an hourly wage for CS-1 were effectively paid by the Drug Court Foundation.

3 For a period after the Court Foundation Center was created, funding from the Drug Court
Foundation was occasionally inadequate to cover the costs associated with all participants, and the
Court Foundation Center effectively treated some participants for free.

6
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18.  Court Foundation Center staff maintained records of attendance at counseling
sessions by all participants (“attendance logs™), as well as records reflecting payments by self-pay
clients (“receipts™).

MORELAND’s and CS-1’s Arrangement to Keep Cash*

19.  Until in or about 2016, with MORELAND’s knowledge and approval, CS-1 kept
the cash paid by self-pay clients for herself in addition to billing the Drug Court Foundation for
her time. Between the creation of the Court Foundation Center and the end of 2016, the volume
of self-pay clients increased, and by early 2016 CS-1 was keeping thousands of dollars in cash
each month.

20.  In or about spring 2016, CS-1 became uncomfortable with the large quantities of
cash she was taking, and she approached MORELAND with her concerns. MORELAND
suggested that CS-1 begin bringing him half of the cash she kept each month: he told her to bring
half of the cash in an envelope to his personal office in the General Sessions courthouse. CS-1
complied, bringing MORELAND half of the cash from self-pay clients she received each month,
typically leaving a plain white envelope containing the cash on MORELAND’s desk while
MORELAND himself was not present.

21.  Laterin 2016, CS-1 returned to MORELAND and again expressed discomfort with
the cash she was taking. CS-1 told MORELAND that, instead of keeping cash from self-pay
clients, she would prefer to be permitted to submit invoices for all of her hours worked without
having to reduce them to a specified limit. MORELAND agreed, telling CS-1 that she could

submit invoices for all of her hours worked, and that in exchange CS-1 should begin delivering all

4 Unless otherwise indicated, the facts recounted in this section are based on CS-1’s account
of events.

7
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of the cash she received from self-pay clients to him. CS-1 began doing so, again typically leaving
a plain white envelope containing the cash on MORELAND’s desk while MORELAND was
- absent from his office.

22.  CS-1’s payments to MORELAND continued until in or about February 2017, as
the federal investigation was underway.

MORELAND'’s Request that CS-1 Store Cash®

23.  In or about February 2017, CS-1 and MORELAND were both present in the
General Sessions courthouse, having participated in a Drug Treatment Court meeting.
MORELAND asked CS-1 to meet him in the building’s parking garage following the meeting; in
the parking garage, he handed her an envelope full of cash, which appeared to CS-1 to be identical
to the envelopes full of cash she had routinely brought to MORELAND’s office. MORELAND
told CS-1 to hold onto the money, and to buy a lockbox in which to store it. On or about February
15, 2017, CS-1 purchased a lockbox (after texting a picture of the lockbox to MORELAND for
MORELAND'’s approval) and kept the cash MORELAND had .given her inside the lockbox, which
she stored in a filing cabinet at the Court Foundation Center. CS-1 sought and obtained
reimbursement for her purchase of the lockbox from MORELAND’s judicial assistant.

24.  Several weeks later, in or about March 2017, MORELAND contacted CS-1 and
asked her to bring him the cash at his sister’s house. CS-1 brought him the cash as requested.
MORELAND removed the cash from the envelope and counted it in front of CS-1; the total amount
of cash in the envelope came to approximately $6,000, and the denominations of the bills were

consistent with the denominations of the bills CS-1 routinely brought to MORELAND’s office.

3 Unless otherwise indicated, the facts recounted in this section are based on CS-1’s account
of events.

8
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25. MORELAND told CS-1 that the money would ensure “she told the truth,” or words
to that effect. Based on the timing and context of that conversation, I believe it is reasonable to
conclude that MORELAND was referring to the bribe payment referred to above in paragraph 8
in connection with a draft affidavit.

MORELAND’S SCHEME TO DESTROY
COURT FOUNDATION CENTER RECORDS®

26.  In or about mid-February 2017, MORELAND and CS-1 discussed the records that
the Court Foundation Center maintained. MORELAND suggested that CS-1 destroy all records
that would reflect cash paid to the Coﬁrt Foundation Center: specifically with respect to those
records, MORELAND told CS-1 words to the effect of: “Make sure everything is taken care of.”
CS-1 believed based on that conversation that MORELAND wanted those records to be
inaccessible to law enforcement.

27. On or about March 2, 2017, CS-1 gathered up the Court Foundation Center’s
receipts and attendance logs covering the period from approximately 2012 through approximately
2016. CS-1 tore up those records into pieces and deposited the pieces in a dumpster behind the
Court Foundation Center building.

28.  Following CS-1’s destruction of the Court Foundation Center’s records,
MORELAND and CS-1 had another conversation, during which MORELAND asked CS-1
whether “everything was taken care of over there,” or words to that effect. CS-1 informed
MORELAND that the records were destroyed, and MORELAND responded approvingly.

29.  Following that interaction, CS-1 and MORELAND continued to stay in touch with

one another, including on occasion by meeting in person for lunch. These contacts included a

6 Unless otherwise indicated, the facts recounted in this section are based on CS-1°s account
of events.

9
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lunch meeting between the two of them on or about December 22, 2017, and a series of text
messages regarding a potential future lunch meeting between the two of them on or about January
22,2018. -

MORELAND’S RECORDED CONVERSATIONS WITH CS-1
AND HIS ATTEMPT TO INFLUENCE CS-1’S TESTIMONY

30. Beginning on or about January 29, 2018, CS-1 met several times with FBI agents
conducting the above-described investigation. CS-1 agreed to meet and consensually record a
conversation with MORELAND. At the FBI’s direction, CS-1 arranged to meet with
MORELAND for lunch on or about February 9, 2018, by telling him that she wanted to talk about
having been approached by federal investigators. CS-1 agreed to tell MORELAND that she had
been subpoenaed to testify before a grand jury, and to express concerns that investigators would
learn about the cash she had brought MORELAND from the self-pay clients. In addition to that
recorded conversation during the lunch meeting, CS-1 consensually recorded a telephone call with
MORELAND after their lunch on or about February 9, 2018; exchanged text messages with
MORELAND following the telephone call on or about February 9, 2018; consensually recorded a
telephone call with MORELAND on or about February 13, 2018; and consensually recorded a
telephone call with MORELAND on or about February 14, 2018.

31.  On or about February 9, 2018, during their consensually recorded conversation at
lunch, CS-1 told MORELAND that she had received a subpoena for the “Wednesday [i.e.,
February 14, 2018] grand jury.” MORELAND repeatedly pressed CS-1 for details of what the

FBI had asked her,” and during the subsequent consensually recorded telephone call he asked her

7 In response to one such inquiry, CS-1 told MORELAND that investigators “asked
about—they want all the receipts and books and all of that, and the receipt book, of course, is gone,
you know, like we talked about last time. But there is an attendance log, and that shows all of the
people that—cash people.” MORELAND replied, “Just ‘cause they came don’t mean they paid.”

10
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to call him after she testified before the grand jury. MORELAND further requested that she
provide him with a copy of all documents she produced in response to the grand jury subpoena.
When CS-1 advised him that the full document prodﬁction would be voluminous, MORELAND
asked that she instead provide him with a list of documents produced.

32.  During the lunch meeting on or about February 9, 2018, and in various recorded
conversations that followed, CS-1 repeatedly told MORELAND that she was concerned about
whether anyone else knew that she had delivered envelopes full of cash to his office. At certain
points, MORELAND denied any knowledge of these cash payments. At other points, however,
MORELAND responded in ways that indicated he was in fact well aware of them. For example:

a. Onorabout February 9, 2018, CS-1 asked MORELAND whether particular named
individuals knew about her bringing cash to him in his office. In response,
MORELAND assured her that “not a soul” knew, “not even Jackie.” 1believe that
MORELAND’s reference to “Jackie” was a reference to his wife.

b. On or about February 9, 2018, CS-1 told MORELAND that she was worried that
there would be “cameras or something” that would show her putting envelopes on
his desk. In response, MORELAND stated, “I had stuff put on my desk all the
time.”

c. On or about February 14, 2018, CS-1 told MORELAND that she had just testified
in front of the grand jury and had “told them about me collecting the cash, about

me giving you cash, about the lockbox, about me bringing cash out to your sister’s

CS-1 asked, “But what if they know it? What if they contact those people?” MORELAND
responded, “That’s a lot of contacting.”

11
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house. I told them all of it.” After a long pause, MORELAND responded, “All
right.”

33.  During the lunch meeting on or about February 9, 2018, and in various recorded
conversations that followed, CS-1 also repeatedly asked MORELAND what she should do about
the fact that she, while acting at his direction, had destroyed the receipt book containing records
of the clients who had paid cash. MORELAND’s responses corroborated CS-1’s statements that
MORELAND had in fact directed her to destroy the receipt book. For example:

a. On or about February 9, 2018, CS-1 asked MORELAND what she should say if
“they ask me about the receipt book? Where’s the receipt book?” MORELAND
responded, “Where is it?” After several seconds during which no intelligible
conversation can be heard on the audio recording of their conversation, CS-1 stated,
“Yes, it’s gone. Just like we talked about.” MORELAND stated, “If it’s gone, it’s
gone.” CS-1 then asked, “But what are they gonna say? What are they gonna say
about why it’s gone? ‘Well, [CS-1], where are these receipt books?’”
MORELAND told CS-1: “Well, just say, look, for the longest time you didn’t write
receipts. Very few paid. Most people had grants and stuff like that. All that money
went to the Foundation.”

b. On or about February 9, 2018, CS-1 told MORELAND that the FBI had spoken to
her about “all the records I need to bring” to grand jury. CS-1 added, “And of
course there’s going to be the glaring hole about the receipt book. And that, you
know, was destroyed last year. What am I going to say about that?”” MORELAND

responded, “Well, if it’s lost, it’s lost. If it’s gone, it’s gone. Ain’t the only thing

12
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to have gone missing down there. I mean, we don’t deal with the most honest
people in the world to begin with.”

- c. On or about February 9, 2018, CS-1 again told MORELAND that the FBI “want[s] -
receipt books, I don’t have those.” MORELAND responded, “You got some now,
though, don’t you?”” CS-1 acknowledged that she did have new receipts books, but
that they only went back to 2017. CS-1 again predicted that she would be asked
“what happened to the ones before then?” MORELAND asked her what she would
say if asked, and CS-1 responded, “I can’t say, well, I destroyed them, because
[unintelligible] I was giving money.” MORELAND laughed in response, and
added, “Well, if they’re gone, they’re gone. They’re gone.”

d. On or about February 14, 2018, CS-1 also advised MORELAND that, during her |
grand jury testimony, she had “told them about you talking to me about tearing up
the receipt book. They know all of it now. I couldn’t lie.” After a long pause,
MORELAND responded, “All right.”

34.  Throughout the conversations between on or about February 9 and on or about
February 13, 2018, MORELAND repeatedly suggested various false cover stories that CS-1 could
provide to the grand jury to explain what happened to the cash that CS-1 was collecting at the
Center, and the receipt books documenting that collection. For example:

a. During the lunchtime conversation on or about February 9, 2018, MORELAND
suggested to CS-1 at various points: that many attendees never paid anything; that
CS-1 “bought stuff with that cash”; that CS-1 “bought chairs” and “other things”
such as “meals for parties and stuff like that”; and that employees at the Center and

attendees in the program may have stolen the cash, stating, “Money’s been taken
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out of drawers down there. And there’s cash, there’s been cash come up
missing. . .. I mean, we are dealing with criminals.”

b. In anexchange of text messages on or about February 9, 2018, MORELAND asked
CS-1, “Didn’t the foundation spend a lot of cash on that family whose house burnt?”
CS-1 replied, “Sort of remember that. Why?” MORELAND responded, “Where
some of the cash may have went along with helping clients here and there[.]” CS-
1 asked, “Is that what I should say?” MORELAND replied, “Just saying the
foundation used the money to help clients, cash and checks[.]” CS-1 responded,
“Anytime we helped clients it was. With a check. I’'m worried about the
undocumented cash.” MORELAND replied, “We gave cash at times ! I know I
dug into my pocket many times[.]” CS-1 responded, “Digging in your pocket
doesn’t help explain where the foundation cash is.” MORELAND reiterated, “I’m
just saying we gave out cash here and there many times[.]”

c. During the consensually recorded conversation on or about February 13, 2018,
MORELAND told CS-1, “I can’t believe you didn’t recall that guy whose house
burnt!” CS-1 replied, “I mean, that was, that was, like, three years ago. Or way in
the past.” MORELAND responded, “Well, but I mean, I’'m just using that as an
example of times that we probably would’ve used cash. Took ‘em on a Walmart
spree, things like that. Christmas parties. Thanksgiving.”

d. During the lunch meeting on or about February 9, 2018, MORELAND also
suggested to CS-1 that she should tell the grand jury that any receipt books prior to

2017 were simply unavailable, repeatedly stating, “If they’re gone, they’re gone,”
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or similar words to that effect. MORELAND further explained to CS-1 that
“shoddy bookkeeping” is “not a crime.”

35.  -During the lunch meeting on or about February 9, 2018, MORELAND also asked
CS-1 to tell the grand jury that he had no involvement with the Center and did not know about any
cash. MORELAND stated, “I don’t even know about money. And you can tell ‘em that, if you
don’t mind. That I never had anything to do with any money, because I didn’t.” MORELAND
subsequently reiterated, “I’d appreciate it if you tell ‘em I never had anything to do with that place
down there. And y’all wouldn’t—.” CS-1 interrupted to ask, “What, the Center?” MORELAND
replied, “Uh-huh.”

36.  During the lunch meeting on or about February 9, 2018, MORELAND twice
assured CS-1 that she could only get in trouble with investigators if she gave them information.
At one point, CS-1 told MORELAND, “I’'m just, cannot—and plus, you know, I know the
Foundation, if this comes out, my life’s gonna be destroyed.” MORELAND replied, “There’s no
way it’ll come out. Unless'you say something.” Later during the lunch meeting, CS-1 told
MORELAND, “I’'m just so scared.” MORELAND replied, “They’re not after you.” CS-1
responded, “They can get after me though.” MORELAND told CS-1, “Only if you let ‘em.”

CONCLUSION

37.  The numerous explanations and rationalizations that MORELAND proposed in the
above paragraphs to account for missing cash—including the claim that MORELAND had no
knowledge of the cash, the claim that receipts were never kept for some participants, the claim that
CS-1 did not handle cash for some time, the claim that cash was used to buy office supplies or
meals, ’Fhe claim that cash was used as petty cash, the claim that cash and the receipt book were

likely stolen, the claim that bookkeeping was generally shoddy, and the claim that cash was
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frequently used to help clients—are all inconsistent with CS-1’s recollection. Based on the above-
described conversations between MORELAND and CS-1, as well as CS-1’s description of her
independent recollection of keeping cash from self-pay clients and delivering that cash to
MORELAND, I believe there is probable cause to believe that MORELAND attempted to obstruct
justice through witness tampering, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1512(b)(1).

38.  Likewise, based on CS-1’s independent recollection about the destruction of Court
Foundation Center records, as well as my review of the consensually recorded conversations
between CS-1 and MORELAND—including MORELAND’s repeated acknowledgement that
records from the Court Foundation Center were gone, and his reaction when told that CS-1 had
told the grand jury that she had destroyed the records at his direction—I believe there is probable
cause to believe that MORELAND knowingly directed the destruction of records in a Federal
investigation, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1519 and 2.

39. Based upon my training and experience, and the totality of the facts described
above, I believe there is probable cause to believe that, beginning not later than February 1, 2017,
continuing on through at least February 13, 2018, in the Middle District of Tennessee and
elsewhere, MORELAND did knowingly obstruct justice through destruction of records, in
violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1519 and 2, and attempt to obstruct justice

through witness tampering, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1512(b)(1).

¥?
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JEFFREY R. FENTON

17195 SILVER PKWY #150, FENTON, M| 48430-3426

phone: (s10) (NN - &oi: R

GENESEE CO DHS UNION ST DISTRICT
Specialist / 1D: M. Client-connection / MDHHS-Genesee-Union
Case Name: Jeffrey Fenton

Case Number: 1289
Individual ID: 124073
DEAR CASE WORKER,

I've been experiencing computer problems and only accessed this letter about a week ago,
after it was already past due. I've been working on this for days since. Due to my disabilities, no
task is simple in my world. While I've been overwhelmed and swamped for over three years
now, fighting a corrupt legal system in Tennessee, who refuses to even acknowledge my most
basic human rights.

I've lived at the SAME address as | have since returning to Michigan in 2019, that being the
ONLY ADDRESS in the WHOLE WORLD where | can stay for FREE when | need to, which is with

my MOTHER, Marsha A. Fenton at [

When | signed-up for assistance at Union Station at the end of 2019, | specifically requested
that my mother’s address be kept confidential. That was for my safety as well as for my elderly
mothers. Because of a corrupt judge, and a bunch of corrupt attorneys, and auctioneers who
perform Racketeering (RICO) directly out of the Williamson County Chancery Court, in Middle
Tennessce.

They have and continue to threaten my safety, my freedom, my life, my liberty, while they
illegally took my property, which was my life’s savings, and everything | had saved toward
retirement. But they didn’t stop there... | wish there was a simple way to explain it to you, but
they falsified the Court Records, to make it look like | was an evil monster who deserved
nothing, and voluntarily chose to give away my home for free and relocate to Michigan, when |
had no plans of ever living in Michigan again. (I planned to continue to visit my mom, but not
to relocate here, as | was inevitably forced, purely to survive their illegal schemes.)

No offense, but | had lived in Middle Tennessee for 25-years, the weather was much better, |
had a beautiful home, and the economy was thriving. Yet the RICO scam the Court and Counsel
played on me, almost instantly (with just five-days notice) left me with no shelter, income,
support, provision, or means to sustain myself, amidst a simple divorce with no children. Which
I didn’t even want, but agreed to, without the need for ANY drama.
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ZERO INCOME. Everything else she is keeping a running tally of, while | probably owe her in
excess of $20k currently.

I apologize for missing the due date and | hope that this won't affect my benefits. | only get the
FAP for food, which I necd, so that I'm not even more of a burden for my mother (she is a
retired nurse, who planned retirement for herself, but not to support two people).

She can let me live here for free, when need be, but the additional expenses are really adding
up. Espcecially after so long with no legal remedy or relief in sight. I've finally decided to try to
file criminal complaints through the Michigan State Police, which I'm currently drafting
documents for. My hope is that the Michigan State Police will work with the Tennessee Bureau
of Investigation and the FBI. (Though that is probably a long shot.)

I've considered writing to Governor Whitmer to see if she can provide any assistance. It is hard
to convince anyone to intervene with a powerful gang of lawless judges and attorneys, while
many federal resources are devoted currently to “Domestic Terrorism” and were previously
devoted to COVID.

So far, every judge backs the original judge’s order, without even considering the possibility
that the Trial Court Judge is Corrupt and the Opposing Counsel is one of his best friends
(undisclosed). More absurdly, by “local court rules”, my vexatious Opposing Counsel was
allowed to WRITE the Court Orders HERSELF! To top it off, the Chancery Court Clerk & Master
has literally been a “close family friend” of my vicious Opposing Counsel for over FORTY-YEARS.
(Try to find any fairness, impartiality, or justice therel The Judge literally told me on Court
Record, that “FAIR is something you do in the fall.”)

Try as 1 do, cach and every day (10-16 hours per day, at least 6-days per week), I've yet to reach
any help. Unfortunately, I've learned that is common in cases of “Predatory Litigation”. Most
people have no idea that one corrupt judge can completely destroy their lives and literally
render them homeless, broke, and destitute, in just an hour or two. Without being allowed to
be heard, to provide evidence, to cross examine the bogus claims made about them, etc.

All these “laws”, “civil rights”, “constitutional rights”, natural inalienable “human rights”, and
alleged “freedoms” that we were taught in school that we HAVE and honestly believe WILL
protect us, until the day you find yourself in a corrupt “FAMILY COURT”, up against an army of
cirty attorneys, who have already setup a scheme to wipe you out, before you can even figure
out what happened! Yet it happens EVERY DAY across our Country! (Actually, it’s an epidemic in
almost EVERY COUNTRY currently!)

You learn quickly that ANY WORDS ON PAPER (laws, constitutions, rights, judicial canons, rules
of professional conduct) are only as good as the people who are appointed to HONOR &
ENFORCE them! (We don’t nced more laws. We need more judges who respect the rights of the
people, honor and obey the Law.)

I don’t know how to explain what happened to me in Tennessee in a way that is believable and
doesn’t make me sound crazy. I'm not crazy, I'm just slow, overwhelmed, and a perfectionist
(ADHD/OCPD/GAD). They intentionally targeted and attacked my known disabilities.
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WILLIAMSON COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE

CONFIDENTIAL PRELIMINARY INVESTIGATIVE REPORT DS.P.102-M
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WILLIAMSON COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE

CONFIDENTIAL PRELIMINARY INVESTIGATIVE REPORT DS.P.102-M
PageNo. _2
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On Wednesday, December 13, 2023 at approximately 1256 hours, I Deputy B. Cartwright was dispatched

to make a phone call to a Mr. Jeffrey R. Fenton, in regards to a Civil Matter.

Upon making contact with Jeffrey via phone, Jeffrey advised back in 2019 he and his wife at the time

were going through a bad divorce and his wife filed to get an order of protection against him.

Jeffrey stated that usually in Williamson County a normal divorce is supposed to take a while some

times longer than a year, however, their first court hearing Judge Binkley and Attorney Virginia Lee

Story falsely granted the Order of Protection and wrongfully kicked him out of his residence located

at 1986 Sunnyside Drive, Brentwood, Tennessee.

Jeffrey later advised that he has already went to TBI along with FBI on this incident in attempt to

|file for Official Oppression and Racketeering charges. At this time, I asked Jeffrey when he filed a
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WILLIAMSON COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE

CONFIDENTIAL PRELIMINARY INVESTIGATIVE REPORT DS.P.102-M
NARRATIVE (CONTINUATION)

Code Number By Ongmn Datc Time Case Number

TN0840000 | 2518 - Brady M. Cartwright PegeNo. _3_ | 01.2Zone1 09/01/2019 2023-35037

Summary

report with the TBI and FBI in which he stated it was a while ago but he stopped them due to the fact

he did not want his ex-wife to suffer.

Furthermore, Jeffrey advised he filed a civil suit against several Judges, Attorney and The State.
Jeffrey provided me with a file number (#1;23-CV01097-PLM-RSK). At this time, I advised Jeffrey that

this incident is in fact civil; however, I would in fact document the information given on a TIBRS

report under Civil. I then provided him a case number for the case and advised him if he had any

other questions to contact dispatch to speak with a Deputy.

Case#2023-35037

No Guns Involved

No Drugs Involved
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f. Recommend what types or amount of damages to seek or the specific litigants from
whom to seek damages.

g Recommend specific questions to ask witnesses or other litigants.

h. Recommend specific techniques for presenting evidence in pleadings or at trial.

Recommend which objections to raise to an opponent's pleadings or motions at trial or
when and specifically how to raise them.

j. Recommend when or whether a litigant should request (or oppose) a continuance.
k. Recommend when or whether a litigant should settle a dispute.
L. Recommend whether a litigant should appeal a judge's decision.
m.  Interpret the meaning or implications of statutes or appellate court decisions as they
might apply to an individual case.
n. Perform legal research.
0. Predict the outcome of a particular case, strategy, or action.
3. If a court clerk is uncertain whether the advice or information constitutes "legal advice," the

clerk shall inform the person that the clerk is not authorized to provide legal advice and shall
advise the person to seek the assistance of an attorney.

D.  Authorized information and assistance. When a self-represented person seeks help --
excluding legal advice -- court or clerks' staff may respond to questions to the best of her or his ability.
Court clerks are authorized to:

1. Unless prohibited by statute or court rule, provide public information contained in:
a. dockets or calendars,
b case files,
C. indexes, and
d other reports.
2. Provide a copy of or recite common, routinely employed:
a. court rules,
b. court procedures, and
c. administrative practices.
3. Show or tell the self-represented person where to access statutes or rules of procedure.
4, Identify forms [and informational booklets] that might meet the needs of the self-represented

person, and provide forms [and informational booklets] that the Supreme Court [or trial judge]
has [approved] mandated for the guidance of self-represented persons. When a clerk is
reasonably certain about which form is most appropriate for use by a given litigant, the clerk
should identify the appropriate form. However, clerks should avoid telling litigants that they
should or must use a particular form. The appropriate approach in most situations is to tell the

2
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litigant: a) a particular form probably will meet the individual’s needs; b) clerks cannot
guarantee that this is the correct form; and c) the litigant should read the form very closely or
consult an attorney to determine the appropriateness of the form for the litigant's purposes.

5. Answer questions about how to complete forms (e.g., where to write in particular types of
information), but not questions about how the litigant should phrase his or her responses on the
forms.

6. Define or explain terms commonly used in court processes.

7. Provide phone numbers for legal assistance organizations, mediator and lawyer referral services,

and other judicially approved programs providing assistance to self-represented persons. .

E. Prohibition against revealing the outcome of a case before the information is officially
released to the litigants or public. Court clerks shall not disclose the outcome of a matter submitted to
a judge for decision until the outcome is part of the public record, or until the judge directs disclosure
of the matter.

F. Ex parte communications.

1. If a litigant or attorney submits an ex parte written communication for a judge (e.g., to grant a
continuance; to stop or limit a garnishment), court staff must deliver it to a judge who should
decide what action, if any, is appropriate.

2. If a party makes a verbal request that a judge take some type of action in a case, the clerk
should tell the litigant to put the request in writing and:

address the request to the court;

include the case number (if any) on the document;

write the date on the document;

sign the written document;

print the person's name under the signature;

write the person's address and telephone number on the document;

deliver the written request to the clerk's office; and

serve a copy of the document on opposing litigant or litigant's attorney (in a manner
consistent with the Tennessee Rules of Civil Procedure..

PR rmoe Ao o

3. If a party or attorney contacts a court clerk by telephone with a verbal request for judicial action
and there is insufficient time to deliver a written request to the clerk's office (i.e., an emergency
situation), the clerk may communicate the request to a judge in accordance with rules established by
the chief or presiding judge(s) for handling such communications. The clerk, however, should tell the
caller that the clerk cannot guarantee that the judge will grant the request.
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STATE OF TENNESSEE
ROBBIE T. BEAL CIRCUIT JUDGES, TWENTY-FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT MICHAEL W. BINKLEY
JUDGE, DNVISION | 135 FOURTH AVENUE SOUTH * SUTES 264 & 286 JUDGE, DrsioN T
JAMES G. MARTIN [} WiLuiamsoN COUNTY JUDICIAL CENTER © FRANKLIN, TENNESSEE 37064 TIMOTHY L EASTER
JUDGE, DIVISION I (615) 790-5426  Fax (615) 790-4424 « Fax (615) 780-5047 JUDGE, DIVISION IV

September 10, 2012

Debbie McMillan Barrett Barbara Hinson

Circuit Court Cierk Wiliiamson County Circuit Court Clerk Lewis County
135 Fourth Avenue South Lewis County Courthouse
Franklin, TN 37064 Hohenwald, TN 38462
Administrative Office of the Courts Peggy Smotherman

511 Union Street, Ste 600 Circuit Court Clerk Perry County
Nashville, TN 37219 Perry County Courthouse

Linden, TN 37096
Dana Nicholson

Circuit Court Clerk Hickman County Tre Hargett
104 College Avenue, Suite 204 Tennessee Secretary of State
Centerville, TN 37033 State Capitol Bldg 1% Floor ~
Nashville, TN 37243 5 = .
Elaine Anderson 2 @ m
County Clerk 45 T A
1320 West Main Street Ste 135 T S
Franklin, TN 37064-3700 ST
3 E
Re: Oath of Office ;—E @ =
Honorable Michael W. Binkley - S

Ladies and Sir:

Enclosed please find for filing with your office an original Oath of Office for the Honorable
Michael W. Binkley, Circuit Court Judge for the 21* Judicial District.

Thank you for your assistance in this matter.

Sincerely,

pA

Debbie Rubenstein
Legal Assistant

/dmr
Enclosure
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Oath of Office *

I, Michael W. Binkley, do solemnly swear that | will
support the Constitution of the United States of America and
the Constitution of the State of Tennessee, that 1 will
administer justice without respect of persons, and that ! will
faithfully and impartially discharge all the duties incumbent
upon me as Judge of the Circuit and Chancery Courts,
Division lll, of the 21°* Judicial District of the State of
Tennessee, to the hest of my skill and ability, so help me
God.

This the 31 day of August, 2012.

Michael W. Binkley %

I, Judge Robbie T. Beal, have this day administered the
Oath of Office to Michael W. Binkley, Judge of the Circuit and
Chancery Courts, Division |, of the 21 st Judicial District of the
State of Tennessee, as prescribed and required by law.

This the 31° day of Au%
J. Beal

Robbie
Circuit Court Judge
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Oath of Office

I, Michael W. Binkley, do solemnfy swear that I will support the
Constitution of the United States of America and the Constitution of the State of
Tennessee, that I will administer justice without respect of persons, and that I will

Saithfully and impartially discharge all the duties incumbent upon me as Circuit
Judge of Division I11, of the 21% Judicial District of the State of Tennessee, to the
best of my sKill and ability, so help me God.

This the 29 Day of August, 2014

Michael W, Binkley S

[ S0E L /ju(/ﬂ,ey, J7,. have this day administered the Oath of
Office to Michiael W. Binkley, Circuit Judge of Division III, of the 21* Judicial
District of the State of Tennessee, as prescribed and required by law.

This the 29 Day of August, 2014

ﬁ_v/& /)/&/\‘4/
Judgt 7 / ]/

VIS 40 n”‘l!'
(l~!l¥ N

h0:h Hd S- dISHi0Z
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JUDGE JOE P. BINKLEY, JR.
5th Circuit Court
Room 509

L Biography

Judge Joe P. Binkley, Jr. is a native Nashvillian. He attended high school at Montgomery Bell
Academy and graduated in 1962. He received his B.A. from Vanderbilt University in 1966.
He received his J.D. from Vanderbilt University School of Law and was admitted to the
Tennessee Bar in 1969. During nearly 40 years of law practice, Judge Binkley was a sole
practitioner trial attorney representing Plaintiffs in all types of simple as well as complex
workers’ compensation and personal injury cases, representing individuals in all types of
simple and complex domestic relations matters as well as defendants in all types of simple and
complex criminal cases from 1969 through early 2008 in the state trial courts, federal trial
courts and all appellate courts. He is a member of the Tennessee and Nashville Bar
Associations and the Tennessee Association for Justice. He is a Trustee of the Nashville Bar
Foundation as well as a Board Member of the Nashville Bar Association. He is also an
Emeritus member of the Harry Phillips American Inn of Court and a Fellow of both the
Nashville and the Tennessee Bar Foundations.

Judge Binkley has served as the Fifth Circuit Court Judge since his appointment in March of
2008 and subsequent election in August of 2008 and re-election in August of 2014. He hears
predominantly civil cases; however, upon request, he has also been available to hear DUI
criminal cases, divorce cases, Chancery cases and Probate cases. In 2015, he is serving his fifth
consecutive term as the Presiding Judge of the 18 State Trial Court Judges in the 20® Judicial
District.

Judge Binkley has been married to Suzanne Griffith Binkley since 1967. They have one son,
Jay Binkley, who resides in Dallas, Texas with his wife Kristen, and two daughters, Holly
Binkley Higgins along with her husband Mike and their two sons, Will and Jack, who live in
Glenview, Illinois, and Ellie Binkley Fromherz along with her husband Bernard and their sons
Joseph and Robert and daughter Claire who reside in Madisonville, Louisiana.

IL Preliminary General Matters
A. Scheduling

1. Trial dates for all jury and non-jury trials should be obtained from the
Assignment Clerk at (615) 862-4209. All other scheduling should be done
with Judge Binkley’s Judicial Assistant, Marla Guinn at (615) 862-5915.

2. In all jury cases, the Circuit Court Special Master, Marsh Nichols, will
schedule a status conference/case management conference after the
expiration of approximately 4-6 months from the initial filing of a jury
case, These conferences are conducted by the Special Master. Each case
is designated as either a general sessions appeal, expedited, standard, or
complex pursuant to Local Rule §§ 27.06(f).

1
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B. Correspondence with the Court

Judge Binkley prefers that all communication with the Court should be by pleadings,
notices, memoranda and briefs. Letters sent to the Court will be placed in the case file.

C. Telephone Conferences with the Court

Judge Binkley will conduct status conferences or pre-trial conferences by telephone
whenever out-of-town counsel are involved and/or the physical presence of in-town
counsel is not feasible and/or necessary.

Judge Binkley generally will not resolve discovery disputes by telephone. Attorneys or
parties must file the appropriate motion.

Judge Binkley will conduct emergency motions by telephone whenever it is necessary
and/or appropriate.

D. Pro Hac Vice Admission

Judge Binkley is vigilant in requiring out-of-state counsel to comply with the
requirements of Supreme Court Rule 19 before participating in a case.

II. Pretrial Matters
A. Pretrial Motions
1. Motions should be scheduled pursuant to Local Rule §26.03.

2. Judge Binkley will allow a motion to be heard earlier than the minimum
notice if all parties agree. However, a waiver of Local Rule §26.01 (i.e.
scheduling a dispositive motion within thirty (30) days of a trial date)
will require permission from the Court.

3. In order to schedule a motion on an expedited basis without the
agreement of all parties, a party must file a motion for an expedited
hearing, along with the underlying motion. A proposed order granting
the motion for an expedited hearing shall be filed as well, leaving the
date of hearing blank for the Court to complete. The motion for an
expedited hearing should fully explain why Local Rule §26.03(a) or (b)
should be waived. If Judge Binkley grants the motion for an expedited
hearing, he will enter the propoesed order and schedule a hearing on the
underlying motion. Counsel will be notified of the expedited hearing date
by telephone, fax or e-mail.

4. Oral argument of a motion may be waived by agreement of counsel. See
Local Rule §25.04.

2
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S. Parties are not required to appear on Friday mornings if no response to
their motion has been timely filed. An order should be filed granting the
motion within seven (7) days of the motion hearing date. See Local Rule
§ 33.01(a).

6. Late responses generally are not considered by the Court. If the parties
agree to allow a non-movant to respond to a motion late, the Court will
consider the late response so long as the Court has been notified of the
agreement in advance.

7. Judge Binkley does not call either the no response docket or motions for
summary judgment when no responses have been filed; however, prior
to calling the response docket, Judge Binkley will address any questions
and comments concerning the no response docket.

B. Settlement Conferences/ ADR

In order to schedule a judicial settlement conference for a case that has been assigned
to the Fifth Circuit Court, contact the Special Master’s Office at 880-2555.

IV. Trial Procedure
A, Courtroom Decorum

1. Please use the podium, and please stand behind the podium when
addressing the Court.

2. Do not bring gum, food or drink (other than water) in the courtroom.

3. Please ask permission before approaching a witness or the judge.

4. An attorney should never directly hand an exhibit to the judge or a
witness. Please wait for the court officer to come forward and receive
the exhibit. The court officer will then pass the exhibit to the witness.

B. Voir Dire

1. Counsel should keep in mind that voir dire is not an opening statement.
Fact specific questions are discouraged.

2. Judge Binkley will conduct a short preliminary voir dire of jurors who
are initially seated in the jury box as well as those who are subsequently
seated in the jury box. One of the questions Judge Binkley will ask the
prospective jurors is whether or not they have previously served on
either a civil or a criminal jury and the verdicts rendered in those cases.

3. Please address all of your general questions to the jurors seated in the
jury box as well as to all prospective jurors seated in the courtroom.

3
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4, You may use your challenges against any juror until your challenges are
exhausted. (Back striking is permitted.)

C. Note Taking By Jurors

Judge Binkley will tell the jurors they are welcome to take notes during trials. Pen and
paper are provided to the jurors by the Court for that purpose. The jurors are allowed
to take their notes with them into the jury room when deliberations begin.

D. Opening Statement

Counsel should keep in mind that an opening statement is not a time for argument, but
rather a presentation of anticipated facts.

E. Examination of Witness

If you plan to introduce evidence or cross examine about evidence admissible under
T.R.E. 404(b), 405(a), 608(b) or 609, please obtain permission from the judge
beforehand, out of the presence of the jury.

F. Exhibits

1. As a general rule, the Court Officer of the Fifth Circuit Court will
mark/label all trial exhibits. If the Court Officer is unavailable and if a
court reporter is present for a jury trial, the court reporter will
mark/label all trial exhibits unless counsel have agreed in advance to
pre-labeling of the exhibits. This same procedure applies to non-jury
trials. Judge Binkley asks that counsel and the parties remain silent
until each exhibit has been marked.

2, A witness who wishes to use a diagram or drawing shall prepare the
diagram or drawing prior to trial or at a recess or break prior to the
testimony and allow all counsel to review the diagram before being
introduced at trial.

3. Counsel admitting documentary evidence which he or she wants the jury
to read in court shall provide a sufficient number of copies to enable
each juror in court to have his or her own copy plus one copy for the
Court.

G. Closing Statement

Judge Binkley generally will not set a time limit for closing argument.

4
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H. Jury Instructions and Verdict Forms

1. If counsel wishes to submit them, proposed jury instructions and a
verdict form should be given to Judge Binkley's law clerk as soon as
practicable either before trial begins, but certainly before the end of the
trial. ‘

2. A jury charge conference will be held with the attorneys to discuss the
jury instructions and verdict form. These conferences are held on the
record in the courtroom.

3. In all cases a copy of the finalized jury instructions and verdict form is
provided for each juror to follow along as Judge Binkley reads them.
Each juror is then allowed to bring their copy of the instructions and
verdict form into the jury deliberation room, and the jurors may refer
to their copies at any time during their deliberations.

L Jury Deliberation and Verdict

1. Counsel are not required to remain in the courtroom or atthe
courthouse while the jury is deliberating; however, all counsel shall
inform the court officers of where they will be and how they can be
contacted throughout the jury deliberations.

2, All appropriate exhibits are given to the jury as they begin their
deliberations.

3. All questions from and requests by the jury are submitted in writing to
Judge Binkley. Judge Binkley will provide copies of all juror questions
and requests to counsel and will meet and confer with counsel before
making any replies.

4. Transcripts of audio and video testimony are not given to the jurors with
other exhibits, If the jurors request to see a transcript or rehear such
testimony, Judge Binkley will review such a request with counsel.

S. After the verdict has been announced by the presiding juror, as a
general rule the jury will be polled by Judge Binkley.

6. After the jury has announced its verdict and court has recessed, Judge
Binkley prefers to speak with the jurors and to answer their questions
to the extent appropriate.

V. Other Comments

1. If counsel or a party expects that they will be late to court, please notify
the Court as soon as pessible. If a civil motion is called on a Friday
morning and the movant is not present without having notified the
Court, the motion may be stricken. If a non-movant is not present
without having notified the Court, the motion may be granted.

5
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Oath of Office

I, Josephi P Binkley, Jr, do solemnly swear that I will support the
Constitution of the United States of America and the Constitution of the State of
Tennessee, that I will administer justice without respect of persons, and that I will
Sfaithfully and impartially discharge all the duties incumbent upon me as Judge of
the Fifth Circuit Court, Twentieth Judicial District, of the State of Tennessee, to
the best of my skill and ability, so help me God.

This the 29th Day of August, 2008.

/T 7
@ @fnﬁyrq Jucfg/

I, J. Randall Watt, Jr, Judge, have this day administered the Oath of
Office to Joseph ®. Binkley, Jr., Judge of the Fifth Circuit Court, Twentieth
Judicial District, of the State of Tennessee, as prescribed and required by law.

This the 29tht Day of August, 2008,

: O J. Randall Wyatd\Jr., Tidge
Criminal Court, Div.
Twentieth Judicial District
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Oath of Office

I, Andy ©. Bennett, do solemnly swear that I will support the Constitution
of the United States of America and the Constitution of the State of Tennessee,
that I will administer justice withoyt respect of persons, and that I will faithfully
and impartially discharge all the duties incumbent upon me as Judge of the Court
of Appeals, Middle Section, of the State of Tennessee, to the best of my sKill and
ability, so help me God.

This the 2nd Day of September, 2014.

%@W

Andy . Bennett

I, Frank, G. Clement, Judge, Tennessee Court of Appeals, have this day
administered the Oath of Office to Andy . Bennett, Judge of the Court of
Appeals, Middle Section, of the State of Tennessee, as prescribed and required by
law.

This the 2nd Day of September, 2014.

(")n WL B nli,g'ﬁ' N
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Oath of Office

I, Frank, G. Clement, Jr, do solemnly swear that I will support the
Constitution of the United States of America and the Constitution of the State of

Tennessee, that I will administer justice without respect of persons, and that I will
faithfully and impartially discharge all the duties incumbent upon me as Judge of

the Court of Appeals, of the State of Tennessee, to the best of my skill and ability,
50 help me God.

This the 29th day of August, 2014.

S

Trgéi{,g meht, Jr,, @. J., M. S.

I, Richard H. Dinkins, have this day administered the Oath of Office to

Frank,G. Clement, Jr., Judge of the Court of Appeals, of the State of Tennessee, as
prescribed and required by law.

This the 29th day of August, 2014.

B rd' H. Q)ml{ms, ]ud:ge =
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Oath of Office

I, William Neal McBrayer, do solemnly swear that I will support the
Constitution of the United States of America and the Constitution of the State of
Tennessee, that I will administer justice without respect of persons, and that I will
Saithifully and impartially discharge all the duties incumbent upon me as Judge of
the Court of Appeals of the State of Tennessee, to the best of my skill and ability,
50 help me God.

This the 24 day of May, 2014,

J

William Neal McBrayer

I, Jeffrey S. Bivins, Judge of the Court of Criminal Appeals of the State of
Tennessee, have this day administered the Oath of Office to William Neal
McBrayer, Judge of the Court of Appeals of the State of Tennessee, as prescribed
and required by law.

This the S day of May, 2014,

@f ﬂ 031'4}1'11.5', Me
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Juy 320

STATE OF TENNESSEE

Oty of e

I, William Neal McBrayer, do solemnly swear that as Judge of the
Tennessee Court of Appeals, Middle Section of the State of Tennessee, I
will support the Constitution of the State of Tennessee and the Constitution
of the United States, and that I will perform with fidelity and faithfully
execute the duties of the office to which I have been appointed, and which I

am about to assume. So help me God.

This the 29t day of May, 2014.

4zl

William Neal McBrayer

STATE OF TENNESSEE )

COUNTY OF DAVIDSON )

I, Bill Haslam, Governor of the State of
Tennessee, have this day administered
the Oath of Office to William Neal
McBrayer as prescribed by law. This the
29% day of May, 2014.
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I, William Neal McBrayer, do solemnly swear that I will support the
Constitution of the United States of America and the Constitution of the State of
Tennessee, that I will administer justice without respect of persons, and that I will

faithfully and impartially discharge all the duties incumbent upon me as Judge of
the Court of Appeals of the State of Tennessee, to the best of my skill and ability,
50 help me God.

This the 10 day of September, 2014,

Lo,

William Neal McBrayer

I, Andy D. Bennett, Judge of the Court of Appeals of the State of
Tennessee, have this day administered the Oath of Office to William Neal
McBrayer, Judge of the Court of Appeals of the State of Tennessee, as prescribed
and required by law.

This the 10* day of September, 2014.

(o 8 % 57—

Andy 0. Bennett
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OATHS OF OFFICE

The oath of office for any elected or appointed county official may be administered by
the county mayor, the county clerk, a judge of any court of record in the county, or the
current or a retired judge of the general sessions court. T.C.A. § 8-18-109.

All elected county officials and the appointed officers such as clerk and master, and
deputies to these officers, are required to take an oath of office that actually consists of
two oaths: the constitutional oath and an oath for the particular office or fidelity oath
(TENN. CONST. Art. X, Sec. 1).

The following is a combination fidelity and constitutional oath:

| do solemnly swear that | will perform with fidelity the duties of the office

to which | have been elected, and which | am about to assume. | do

solemnly swear to support the constitutions of Tennessee and the United

States and to faithfully perform the duties of the office of for
County , Tennessee.

The simple constitutional oath and fidelity oath are taken by those who do not have a
more specific oath prescribed by law (T.C.A. § 8-18-111). This basic oath is used upon
entering the following offices:

County Mayor

County Clerk (or deputy county clerk by substituting the word "appointed” for
"elected")

County Register (or deputy register by substituting the word "appointed” for
"elected")

Chief administrative officer of the county highway department

County commissioners may the use the same basic oath as noted above but phrased
as follows:

| do solemnly swear that | will perform with fidelity the duties of the office
to which | have been elected, and which | am about to assume. | do
solemnly swear to support the constitutions of Tennessee and the United
States and to faithfully perform the duties of the office of county
commissioner representing the district of County,
Tennessee.

Clerks of court take the following oath prescribed by T.C.A. § 18-1-103:

| do solemnly swear to support the constitutions of Tennessee and the
United States. | do solemnly swear that | will execute the duties of the
office of without prejudice, partiality, or favor, to the best of my
skill and ability; that | have neither given nor will give any person any
gratuity, gift, fee or reward in consideration of support for this office and |
have neither sold nor offered to sell, nor will sell, my interest in this office.
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Deputy clerks of court must take the following oath prescribed by T.C.A. § 18-1-104:

| do solemnly swear that | will perform with fidelity the duties of the office
to which | have been appointed and which | am about to assume and that |
will faithfully discharge the duties of the office of to the best of
my skill and ability. | do solemnly swear to support the constitutions of
Tennessee and the United States.

Sheriffs take the following oath according to T.C.A. § 8-8-104:

| do solemnly swear that | will perform with fidelity the duties of the office
to which | have been elected, and which | am about to assume. | do
solemnly swear to support the constitutions of Tennessee and the United
States and to faithfully perform the duties of the office of sheriff

for County, Tennessee. | further swear that | have not
promised or given, nor will | give any fee, gift, gratuity, or reward for this
office or for aid in procuring this office; that | will not take any fee, gift, or
bribe, or gratuity for returning any person as a juror or for making any false
return of any process and that | will faithfully execute the office of sheriff to
the best of my knowledge and ability, agreeably to law.

Deputy sheriffs take an oath similar to the sheriff (according to T.C.A. § 8-18-112) as
follows:

| do solemnly swear that | will perform with fidelity the duties of the office
to which | have been appointed, and which | am about to assume. | do
solemnly swear to support the constitutions of Tennessee and the United
States and to faithfully perform the duties of the office of deputy sheriff

for County , Tennessee. | further swear that | have not
promised or given, nor will | give any fee, gift, gratuity, or reward for this
office or for aid in procuring this office; that | will not take any fee, gift, or
bribe, or gratuity for returning any person as a juror or for making any false
return of any process and that | will faithfully execute the office of deputy
sheriff to the best of my knowledge and ability, agreeably to law.

County trustees takes the following oath:

| do solemnly swear that | will perform with fidelity the duties of the office
to which | have been elected, and which | am about to assume. | do
solemnly swear to support the constitutions of Tennessee and the United
States and to faithfully perform the duties of the office of trustee

for County , Tennessee.

Deputy trustees take the same oath but substitute the word "appointed” for "elected.”

Additionally, at the time of executing bonds, the trustee must take an additional oath
according to T.C.A. § 67-5-1901, as follows:
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| do solemnly swear that | will faithfully collect and account for all taxes for
my county, or cause the same to be done, according to law, and that | will
use all lawful means in my power to find out and assess such property as

may not have been assessed for taxation in my county, and return a list of
the same on settlement.

Assessors of property and deputy assessors must take and subscribe an oath of
office according to T.C.A. § 67-1-507 as follows:

I, , assessor of property (or deputy assessor) of the County

of , State of Tennessee, do solemnly swear (or affirm) that |
will appraise, classify, and assess all taxable property of the County
of , according to the Constitution of Tennessee and the laws of

the state; that | will truly report all persons who fail or refuse to list their
taxable property or who have to my knowledge returned a fraudulent list,
and that | will faithfully, impartially, and honestly discharge my duties as
assessor of property according to the law, to the best of my knowledge
and ability, without fear, favor, or affection, so help me God.

Assessors and their deputies must also take the constitutional oath, to wit:

| do solemnly swear to support the constitutions of Tennessee and of the
United States and to faithfully perform the duties of assessor (or deputy
assessor) which | am about to assume.

Constables without law enforcement powers take the following oath according to
T.C.A. § 8-10-108(a):

| do solemnly swear that | will well and truly serve the state of Tennessee
in the office of constable and that | will faithfully, and without delay,
execute and return all lawful process directed to me, and that | will well
and truly, according to my power and ability, do and execute all other
duties of the office of constable. | do solemnly swear to support the
constitutions of Tennessee and the United States.

Constables with law enforcement powers take the following oath according to T.C.A.
§ 8-10-108(b):

| do solemnly swear that | will well and truly serve the state of Tennessee
in the office of constable, will cause the peace of the state to be kept to
the best of my power and that | will arrest all persons that go in my sight
armed offensively or who commit any riot, affray, or other breach of the
peace, and will use my best endeavor, on complaint made, to apprehend
all felons, rioters, or persons riotously assembled; and if such persons flee
or make resistance, | will pursue and make hue and cry, according to law;
and that | will faithfully, and without delay, execute and return all lawful
process directed to me, and that | will well and truly, according to my
power and ability, do and execute all other duties of the office of
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constable. | do solemnly swear to support the constitutions of Tennessee
and the United States.

General sessions court judges take an oath of office (usually administered by a
chancellor or circuit judge) pursuant to T.C.A. §§ 16-15-203 and 17-1-104, as follows:

| do solemnly swear that | will support the Constitution of the United States
and the Constitution of Tennessee, and that | will administer justice
without respect of persons and impartially discharge all of the duties
incumbent upon a judge of a general sessions court in the State of
Tennessee to the best of my skill and ability.

School board members:

l, , do solemnly swear that | will perform with fidelity the duties
of the office to which | have been elected, and which | am about to
assume. | do solemnly swear to support the constitutions of Tennessee
and the United States and to faithfully perform the duties of the office of
member of the board of education representing the____ education district
of County, Tennessee.
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Obsessive-Compulsive Personality Disorder (OCPD) - Psychiatric Disorders - Merck Manuals Professional Edition

Symptoms and Signs of OCPD

In patients with obsessive-compulsive personality disorder, preoccupation with order, perfectionism, and
control of themselves and situations interferes with flexibility, effectiveness, and openness. Rigid and
stubborn in their activities, these patients insist that everything be done in specific ways.

To maintain a sense of control, patients focus on rules, minute details, procedures, schedules, and lists. As
a result, the main point of a project or activity is lost. These patients repeatedly check for mistakes and
pay extraordinary attention to detail. They do not make good use of their time, often leaving the most
important tasks until the end. Their preoccupation with the details and making sure everything is perfect
can endlessly delay completion. They are unaware of how their behavior affects their coworkers. When
focused on one task, these patients may neglect all other aspects of their life.

Because these patients want everything done in a specific way, they have difficulty delegating tasks and
working with others. When working with others, they may make detailed lists about how a task should be
done and become upset if a coworker suggests an alternative way. They may reject help even when they
are behind schedule.

Patients with obsessive-compulsive personality disorder are excessively dedicated to work and
productivity, their dedication is not motivated by financial necessity. As a result, leisure activities and
relationships are neglected. They may think they have no time to relax or go out with friends; they may
postpone a vacation so long that it does not happen, or they may feel they must take work with them so
that they do not waste time. Time spent with friends, when it occurs, tends to be in a formally organized
activity (eg, a sport). Hobbies and recreational activities are considered important tasks
requiring organization and hard work to master; the goal is perfection.

These patients plan ahead in great detail and do not wish to consider changes. Their relentless rigidity
may frustrate coworkers and friends.

Expression of affection is also tightly controlled. These patients may relate to others in a formal, stiff, or
serious way. Often, they speak only after they think of the perfect thing to say. They may focus on logic
and intellect and be intolerant of emotional or expressive behavior.

These patients may be overzealous, picky, and rigid about issues of morality, ethics, and values. They
apply rigid moral principles to themselves and to others and are harshly self-critical. They are rigidly
deferential to authorities and insist on exact compliance to rules, with no exceptions for extenuating
circumstances.

Symptoms of obsessive-compulsive personality disorder may improve over a time (eg, within one 1 year),
but their persistence (ie, remission and relapse rates) over time is less clear.

Diagnosis of OCPD

e Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, S5th ed, Text Revision (DSM-5-TR) criteria
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